POLYPHOSPHATE AND PHOSPHATE PUMP

I. Kulaev and T. Kulakovskaya

Skryabin Institute of Biochemistry and Physiology of Microorganisms, Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow Region, 142292 Pushchino, Russia; e-mail: kulaev@ibpm.serpukhov.su

Key Words inorganic polyphosphates, functions, transport, enzymes, metabolism

■ **Abstract** In microbial cells, inorganic polyphosphate (polyP) plays a significant role in increasing cell resistance to unfavorable environmental conditions and in regulating different biochemical processes. polyP is a polyfunctional compound. The most important of its functions are the following: phosphate and energy reservation, cation sequestration and storage, membrane channel formation, participation in phosphate transport, involvement in cell envelope formation and function, gene activity control, regulation of enzyme activities, and a vital role in stress response and stationary-phase adaptation. The functions of polyP have changed greatly during the evolution of living organisms. In prokaryotes, the most important functions are as an energy source and a phosphate reserve. In eukaryotic microorganisms, the regulatory functions predominate. Therefore, a great difference is observed between prokaryotes and eukaryotes in their polyP-metabolizing enzymes. Some key prokaryotic enzymes are not present in eukaryotes, and conversely, eukaryotes have developed new polyP-metabolizing enzymes that are not present in prokaryotes. The synthesis and degradation of polyP in each specialized organelle and compartment of eukaryotic cells are mediated by different sets of enzymes. This is consistent with the endosymbiotic hypothesis of eukaryotic cell origin.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	710
LOCALIZATION OF POLYPHOSPHATES IN MICROBIAL CELLS	711
Prokaryotes	711
Eukaryotes	711
COMPARISON OF THE ENZYMES OF POLYPHOSPHATE	
METABOLISM IN PROKARYOTES AND EUKARYOTES	713
Polyphosphate-Synthesizing Enzymes	713
Polyphosphate-Utilizing Enzymes	716
POLYPHOSPHATE FUNCTIONS	720
Phosphate Reserve	720
Energy Source	720
Cation Sequestration and Storage	721
Cell Envelone Formation and Function	722

	Gene Activity Control	722
	Regulation of Enzyme Activities	723
	Stress Response and Stationary-Phase Adaptation	723
	Membrane Channels	725
	Phosphate Pumps	726
P	OLYPHOSPHATES AND LIFE EVOLUTION	726
C	ONCLUSION	727

INTRODUCTION

Microorganisms are highly dependent on the environment for their viability and metabolism, as well as for the functioning of their cell machinery. As a result, they have evolved the ability to store a number of important metabolites in the form of osmotically inert polymers. Inorganic phosphate is one such metabolite; it is stored within the cell as a high-molecular-weight inorganic polyphosphate (polyP_n, where n is the approximate number of phosphate residues in the polyP molecule). This compound, first identified more than 100 years ago (65), is a linear polymer containing from a few to several hundred residues of orthophosphate that are linked by energy-rich phosphoanhydride bonds. polyPs are widespread in living organisms and are found in the cells of microorganisms, animals, and plants (52, 56, 68). Yet, their greatest quantities are found in microbial cells, where they play a significant role in increasing cell resistance to unfavorable environmental conditions and in regulating different biochemical processes.

In recent years, a greater interest in polyP and its functions has been observed. On the one hand, the modern molecular biological methods (8, 47, 49) and special techniques (including ³¹P-NMR) for analyzing polyP allow rapid progress in the study of the structure and metabolism of this compound (20). On the other hand, the study of polyP biochemistry is important in biotechnology for the creation of systems for enhanced biological removal of phosphate from wastewater (119) and for the development of effective control of pathogenic bacteria and viruses (49, 66).

A number of reviews (47, 49, 51), including a special issue of *Progress in Molecular and Subcellular Biology* (97), have recently been added to the known reviews (32, 52, 54, 125) covering the most important aspects of current research into polyP biochemistry. However, little attention has been paid to the extensive difference between prokaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms in the intracellular localization, metabolism, and function of this compound. This difference emerged during evolution, because eukaryotes have highly developed compartmentation of biochemical processes and specialized cell organelles. One of the new approaches to polyP biochemistry is the use of cell fractionation techniques to study this compound and related enzymes in individual cell compartments. A comparative biochemical study of polyP and enzymes of its metabolism in different cell compartments of eukaryotic and prokaryotic microbial cells seems to be important both

for further understanding of the functions of this polymer and for further progress in the study of the origin of life.

It is worth mentioning that this review does not touch on the metabolism and functions of pyrophosphate, because it has specific functions and metabolic pathways that are different from those of polyP. To mediate the reactions with pyrophosphate, the cell has a set of special enzymes, evolutionarily unrelated to the enzymes catalyzing hydrolysis/synthesis of high-molecular-weight inorganic polyP (9,69). This review is devoted to comparative analysis of the metabolism of inorganic polyP (with chain lengths of three or more phosphate residues) in prokaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms.

LOCALIZATION OF POLYPHOSPHATES IN MICROBIAL CELLS

Prokaryotes

The main compartments of a bacterial cell are the cytoplasm, cell surface, periplasm, and plasma membrane; polyP is found in all of these compartments. polyP-containing granules are present in the cytoplasm of many bacteria (52, 54). Under usual growth conditions, *Escherichia coli* has a low content of polyP (76). The ability of *E. coli* to accumulate polyP may be enhanced by manipulating the genes involved in the transport and metabolism of orthophosphate (P_i) and the genes encoding the enzymes involved in polyP metabolism (31, 39). polyP in the cytoplasm of *E. coli* was found in association with different enzymes and multienzyme complexes, including those with RNA polymerase (60) and with degradosomes that perform the function of RNA processing and degradation (13).

polyP granules were observed in the vicinity of the bacterial nucleoid (54). Some amounts of polyP are localized in the periplasmic region of bacteria outside the cytoplasmic membrane (76, 90). polyP is a component of the cell capsule, which, for *Neisseria* spp., is loosely attached to the surface membrane. This capsular polyP represents ~50% of the polyP content in *Neisseria* cells (109, 110). In the *Helicobacter pylori* bacteria colonizing the gastric antrum, polyP was found in at least three different locations: the cytoplasm, the flagellar pole, and the cell membrane (14).

One of the most remarkable recent discoveries in polyP biochemistry was the finding by Reusch et al (92, 93, 95) of polyP complexes with Ca^{2+} and poly- β -hydroxybutyrate in bacterial membranes. The complex is a double helix, in which the outer chain is represented by poly- β -hydroxybutyrate and the inner chain by polyP linked to the outer chain by Ca^{2+} ions.

Eukaryotes

The basic difference between eukaryotes and prokaryotes is a much better developed compartmentation of biochemical processes in eukaryotes, wherein some

of the processes take place in specialized cell organelles. However, eukaryotic microorganisms possess polyP pools in all cell compartments studied in this respect. Their contents vary, depending on cultivation conditions. The quantitative estimation of the polyP content in different compartments of eukaryotic microorganisms may depend on the methods of extraction and assay. At cell fractionation, labile polyP may degrade. For instance, vacuoles isolated from Saccharomyces cerevisiae at a lower osmolarity actually have no polyP (LP Lichko, unpublished data). The results obtained by ³¹P-NMR also have to be interpreted with caution. The chemical shifts of ³¹P-NMR spectra of many phosphate-containing substances (including the linear polyP) are well known (20). A recent study (50) has shown that the total intensity of the core phosphate groups depends not only on the concentration of each individual polyP, but also on its chain length and on the extent of polyP binding with other structures and compounds of the cell. One of the conventional methods of polyP extraction isolates five polyP fractions from yeast cells (61, 117). These fractions differ to a greater extent in their state or localization in the cell, rather than in the degree of polymerization (51, 117).

The polyP in different cell compartments was best studied in *S. cerevisiae*. The content of polyP in cytosol depends on culture age and cultivation conditions. The cytosol fraction may contain from 10% (82) to 70% (51) of the polyP cell pool in cells of *S. cerevisiae*. In this yeast, the amount of polyP in the cytosol increases about twofold with the so-called "overplus," which occurs when cells are transferred from a medium without phosphate to a medium with phosphate (51). Some part of cytosolic polyP is a component of volutine granules, which also contain four basic proteins and metal ions (38). Volutine granules possess ~14% of the total polyP content in yeast cells (38).

The data on the amount of polyP in yeast vacuoles are quite contradictory, because the authors used different strains and cultivation conditions. Vacuoles are thought to contain polyPs of small chain lengths. When S. cerevisiae is grown on a poor-mineral medium with arginine as the only nitrogen source and the culture growth rate is low, vacuoles may contain the major part of the yeast cell polyP pool (24, 114). The amount of polyP in yeast vacuoles sharply increases when this microorganism accumulates metal cations. S. carlsbergensis vacuoles accumulated seven-fold more polyP than cytosol under incubation with phosphate, glucose, and K⁺, and ten-fold more with Mn²⁺ (64). Under other growth conditions, the vacuolar polyP pool in S. cerevisiae was significantly lower. The vacuoles of S. cerevisiae growing on the Rider medium contained ~15% of the total amount of polyP in the cell (51). The vacuoles of *Candida utilis* contained <30% of the total amount of polyP in the cell, depending on the rate of culture growth and the nitrogen source in the medium (79). polyP was absent in vacuoles during the growth of Candida spp. in a phosphate-deficient medium (18). polyP was also found in the vacuoles of Neurospora crassa (21) and Dunaliella salina (84, 85). Regarding the role of vacuoles as the main compartment of reserve compounds in eukaryotic microorganisms, it can be expected that other fungi, yeasts, and algae have a vacuolar pool of polyP.

Considerable amounts of polyP are present in the cell envelopes of the lower eukaryotes. The cell envelopes of yeasts can contain \geq 20% of the total polyP content of the cell (37, 115). This high polymeric polyP is extracted mostly by a weak alkali at pH 9.0 (54). polyP complexes with poly- β -hydroxybutyrate, similar to those in bacteria, were identified in eukaryotic membranes (91).

polyP with short chain lengths of 14 phosphate residues was found in yeast mitochondria by ³¹P-NMR. This polyP corresponds to 10% of the total content of cellular polyP detected by NMR (11).

The formation of polyP complexes with nucleic acids and their presence in the nuclei of eukaryotic cells are well known (52, 54). polyPs were observed in the nuclei of *Physarvum polycephalum* (86) and *Agaricus bisporus* (52, 54). The DNA preparations from filamentous fungal species of *Colletotrichum* possess polyP₆₀ (96). The amount of polyP in nuclei may be low; however, this compound, which occurs in the nuclei of both lower eukaryotes and mammals, is conserved there during evolution (52, 54, 56).

COMPARISON OF THE ENZYMES OF POLYPHOSPHATE METABOLISM IN PROKARYOTES AND EUKARYOTES

Some enzymes involved in the biosynthesis and degradation of polyP are observed in prokaryotes but not in eukaryotes. These are polyP:ADP phosphotransferase (polyP kinase, EC 2.7.4.1), polyP:glucose-6-phosphotransferase (EC 2.7.1.63), polyP:adenosine monophosphate phosphotransferase, and polyP:NAD-phosphotransferase. Endopolyphosphatase (polyP polyphosphohydrolase, EC.3. 6.1.10) and dolichol-pyrophosphate:polyP-phosphotransferase were found in eukaryotes. Other enzymes, for example 1,3-diphosphoglycerate:polyP phosphotransferase (EC 2.7.4.17) and exopolyphosphatase (EC 3.6.1.11), are present both in eukaryotes and prokaryotes, but their significance in cell metabolism is different.

Polyphosphate-Synthesizing Enzymes

Prokaryotes The main enzyme mediating polyP biosynthesis in bacteria is polyP kinase, which was found by Kornberg et al (48). Mutations in the polyP kinase-encoding gene (*ppk*) result in significant deficiency in the polyP content in bacterial cells (2, 22, 88, 109). The amount of polyP in the *ppk* mutants of *Neisseria gonor-rhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* was reduced to 2% of the wild-type levels (109). The accumulation of polyP in *E. coli* was increased by a higher dosage of the *E. coli* genes encoding polyP kinase (*ppk*), acetate kinase (*acka*), and phosphate-inducible transport systems (*PSTS*, *PSTC*, *PSTA*, and *PSTB*), and by genetic inactivation of *ppx* encoding exopolyphosphatase (31, 39). About 65% of cellular phosphorus was stored as polyP in such recombinant strains (39). The *ppk* genes from *E. coli* (2), *Klebsiella aerogenes* (40), *N. meningitidis* (109), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (36), and *Acinetobacter* sp. (27) have been cloned, sequenced, and characterized. The

deduced amino acid sequences of these enzymes show an extensive homology in different bacterial species (113). The polyP kinase of E. coli is a membrane-bound homotetramer with a subunit molecular mass of 80 kDa (1,2). It catalyzes the reactions of reverse transfer of energy-rich phosphate residues from ATP to polyP and from polyP to ADP, thus linking the energy-rich pools (58,73). This enzyme is responsible for the processive synthesis of long polyP₇₅₀ chains in vivo (1).

polyP kinase can use polyP as a donor in place of ATP, thereby converting GDP and other nucleoside diphosphates to nucleotide triphosphates (58). This reaction was observed with the activity present in crude membrane fractions of *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*, as well as with the purified enzyme obtained from *E. coli*. Membrane fractions obtained from the *E. coli* mutants lacking the *ppk* gene have no such activity. The substrate specificity order was as follows: ADP > GDP > UDP, CDP; the activity with ADP was twofold that of GDP (58). It was confirmed that polyP kinase efficiently catalyzed UTP regeneration in the cyclic system of *N*-acetyl lactosamine synthesis. This activity of pure polyP kinase enables the practical synthesis of oligosaccharides (78). Although the transfer of a phosphate from polyP to GDP by polyP kinase to produce GTP was the predominant reaction, the enzyme also transferred a pyrophosphate group to GDP to form a linear guanosine 5'-tetraphosphate (46). polyP kinase may thus be involved in the regulation of the level of ribonucleoside triphosphates and deoxyribonucleoside triphosphates that modulate cell division and survival in the stationary phase (46, 58).

The polyP kinase of bacteria is a component of different multienzyme complexes and participates in the regulation of their activity. The *E. coli* degradosome, a multienzyme complex whose function is RNA processing and degradation, has been shown to possess polyP kinase (13). Purified polyP kinase was shown to bind RNA, and RNA binding was prevented by ATP (13). *Sulfolobus acidocaldarius* possesses a glycogen-bound polyP kinase, which is active only as a native complex with glycogen. Involvement of this activity in the regulation of metabolism of the above polysaccharide has been proposed (107).

Bacteria have other polyP-synthesizing enzymes. In particular, poly-β-hydro-xybutyrate–calcium–polyP membrane complexes are known to occur in *E. coli* mutants lacking polyP kinase (19). Therefore, the polyP in these complexes is synthesized by another enzyme (19). Some prokaryotes were shown to have 3-phosphoglyceroylphosphate–polyP-phosphotransferase, which uses 1,3-diphosphoglycerate to form polyP (52, 54).

Eukaryotes In contrast to bacteria, polyP kinase is evidently less significant for polyP biosynthesis in eukaryotic microorganisms. The homology to the bacterial *ppk* gene has not been observed in eukaryotic cells (49). Recent data (17) show that polyP kinase from the yeast cell homogenate purified by Felter & Stahl (26) is actually diadenosine-5′,5‴-P¹, P⁴ tetraphosphate a,b-phosphorylase (AP₄ phosphorylase). The production of ³²P-labeled ATP in the presence of ³²P-labeled polyP and ADP was not provided by polyP kinase but rather by the enzyme diadenosine-5′,5‴-P¹, P⁴ tetraphosphate a,b-phosphorylase, acting in concert with one or more

yeast polyphosphatases (17). polyP kinase activity in the yeast vacuolar membrane was more active during the consumption of polyP and formation of ATP, rather than in the synthesis of polyP (103). The enzyme has not been purified, and the presence of polyP kinase in certain membrane fractions in yeast cells is still in question. The level of this activity observed in yeasts is insufficient to explain the synthesis of a large amount of polyP observed in this microorganism.

Some authors (98) believed that the polyP biosynthesis in yeasts is apparently provided by 1,3-diphosphoglucerate:polyP phosphotransferase. However, the activity of this enzyme under usual growth conditions is low. It was found only in the *Neurospora crassa* mutant that is deficient in adenine, in which the concentrations of ATP and other adenyl nucleotides are sharply reduced (53). This enzyme synthesizes polyP during glycolytic phosphorylation with a low ATP content in the cell (53), probably in the cytosol. This enzyme may actually be involved in the biosynthesis of some intracellular polyP fractions, presumably low-molecular-weight polyP.

The surface high-molecular-weight polyP in yeasts is synthesized via another pathway closely related to the biosynthesis of cell wall mannoproteins (100-102). The synthesis occurs in the membrane fraction of the endoplasmic reticulum. The membrane fraction contains an enzyme, dolichylpyrophosphate:polyP phosphotransferase, which synthesizes polyP by using β -phosphate groups of dolichylpyrophosphate (Dol-P-P). It should be emphasized that mannan and polyP synthesized in these reactions in the endoplasmic reticulum are transported by the corresponding vesicles across the plasmalemma and incorporated in the yeast cell wall. This enzyme was solubilized from the membrane fraction using Triton X-100 (100). The specific activity in the preparation of a solubilized enzyme was 20 times higher than that in the protoplast lysate. Dol-P-P:polyP phosphotransferase is a metal-dependent enzyme exhibiting maximum activity in the presence of Mg²⁺ or Ca²⁺. A putative scheme of coordination of mannan and polyP biosynthesis by the cell wall formation was proposed (101, 102). Dol-phosphates are transmembrane carriers of carbohydrate residues in glycoprotein biosynthesis. GDP-mannose at the cytoplasmic side of the endoplasmic reticulum interacts with the phosphate residue of Dol-phosphates. The Dol-P-P-mannose is transported across the membrane so that the phosphomannose residue enters the lumen, where mannosyl transferase and Dol-P-P:polyP phosphotranferase reactions occur. As a result, Dol-phosphate is formed, which again crosses the membrane and could interact on its cytoplasmic side with a new molecule of GDP-mannose. The mannoproteins and polyP are transported to the cell envelope by special vesicles. This synthetic pathway explains the presence of polyP outside the cytoplasmic membrane.

Some enzymes, when binding with the membrane, are known to change the direction of a catalyzed reaction. The membrane-bound pyrophosphatase of mito-chondria, like its ATPase, synthesizes pyrophosphate in native mitochondria and hydrolyzes it after solubilization (69). Because the level of polyphosphatase activity in eukaryotic microorganisms is appreciably higher than that in prokaryotes, we can assume that membrane-bound polyphosphatases may be involved in the polyP

synthesis in eukaryotes. Membrane-bound exopolyphosphatases are revealed in vacuoles and mitochondria (6, 63). The cell-envelope exopolyphosphatase also shows some properties of a membrane-bound enzyme (7). Possible participation of polyphosphatases in this process can be confirmed by the incorporation of labeled orthophosphate directly in the high-molecular polyP of lysosomes observed in animal cells (87). However, these suggestions still await experimental confirmation.

In yeasts, the degree of polymerization of different polyP fractions changes, depending on the growth stage (117). Therefore, we suggest that endopolyphosphatases could participate in the polyP biosynthesis in some yeast organelles. This activity occurs in nuclei and vacuoles (52, 54, 57). Endopolyphosphatases probably promote the appearance of low-molecular-weight polyP, which can leave these organelles and serve as primer for the synthesis of high-polymer polyP in other intracellular structures. In general, clarification of the pathways of polyP synthesis in the lower eukaryotes and the search for the enzymes involved in these pathways require further investigation. The mechanisms of this synthesis may be different in various cell compartments.

Polyphosphate-Utilizing Enzymes

Prokaryotes Prokaryotes possess polyP-utilizing enzymes that are not detected in eukaryotes. There are polyP:glucose-6-phosphotransferase (34, 83, 108), polyP: NAD-phosphotransferase (72), and polyP:adenosine monophosphate phosphotransferase (15), whose properties are well described. One of the important enzymes involved in polyP metabolism is exopolyphosphatase, the enzyme that splits P_i from the end of the polyP chain. Exopolyphosphatases of microorganisms are very diverse. Even prokaryotes show their different forms. The exopolyphosphatase from E. coli is a dimer with a subunit molecular mass of \sim 58 kDa (3). Its affinity for high-molecular polyP was nearly 100-fold higher than that of yeast polyphosphatases ($K_{\rm m}=9~{\rm nM}~{\rm polyP_{500}}$ as a polymer). This enzyme exhibits a high requirement for K^+ (21-fold stimulation by 175 mM of K^+) (3). It has low activity with short-chain polyP. The exopolyphosphatase from A. johnsonii is a monomeric protein of 55 kDa (16). The $K_{\rm m}$ value for polyP with an average chain length of 64 phosphate residues is 5.9 μ M. The activity is maximal in the presence of 2.5 mM Mg²⁺ and 0.1 mM K⁺. No activity is observed in the absence of cations or in the presence of Mg²⁺ or K⁺ alone (16). The enzyme of A. johnsonii was active with tri- and tetraphosphate in the presence of 300 mM NH₄ and 10 mM Mg²⁺, whereas no activity with tripolyphosphate was observed in the presence of 0.1 mM K⁺ and 2 mM Mg²⁺. A specific tripolyphosphatase was purified from Thermobacterium thermoautotrophicum (118). This 22-kDa enzyme hydrolyzes tripolyphosphates fivefold more actively than it does polyP₁₅ (118). Although the two most-studied bacterial exopolyphosphatases from E. coli and A. johnsonii differ from each other to a great extent, they exhibit some similarities. They have a low specific activity (1 U/mg protein for the enzyme from A. johnsonii and 22 U/mg of protein for the enzyme from $E.\ coli$) in comparison with the yeast cytosol and cell envelope enzymes (4, 7); have low activity on tripolyphosphates and short-chain polyP; and require K^+ for the maximal activity. These properties also represent the most appreciable difference between most yeast and bacterial polyphosphatases. The gene of yeast polyphosphatase (PPXs) has no sufficient similarity to the bacterial ppx gene (127). The low activity of bacterial polyphosphatases can probably be explained by the finding that polyP kinase in prokaryotes is able both to synthesize and to hydrolyze polyP (58, 73). The gene ppx, encoding the major $E.\ coli$ exopolyphosphatase, has been cloned and sequenced (2). Another enzyme encoded by the gene gppA and possessing exopolyphosphatase activity was purified from $E.\ coli\ (42)$. This enzyme is a dimer with a monomer molecular mass of 50 kDa; the $K_{\rm m}$ is 0.5 nM (polyP₅₀₀). It has a preference for long-chain polyP, but one of its substrates is guanosine pentaphosphate (pppGpp), an important second messenger in bacteria. No similarities in the ppx and gppA genes were found (42).

Eukaryotes Endopolyphosphatase has escaped detection in prokaryotes (47, 57). The presence of this enzyme in eukaryotes is supposed to be associated with polyP pools in different compartments and polyP transport between the compartments. The endopolyphosphatase splits long polyP molecules into shorter ones. This enzyme was purified from yeast (57). It is a dimer with subunits of 35 kDa. Its activity requires divalent metal cations. Mn^{2+} is more active than Mg^{2+} , with an optimum concentration of \sim 2.5 mM. This enzyme hydrolyzes polyP to shorter chains, even to tripolyphosphate. The authors suggest that the endopolyphosphatase is localized in vacuoles (57).

Exopolyphosphatases of eukaryotic microorganisms are still more diverse. The data obtained recently indicate that each compartment of a yeast cell contains not only its own specific pool of polyP but also its own exopolyphosphatases, which differ in properties from the corresponding enzymes in other compartments (4, 5, 7, 62, 63). S. cerevisiae exopolyphosphatases exhibit only some similar properties. They hydrolyze polyP with different chain lengths and show the optimal activity at neutral pH. They fail to hydrolyze pyrophosphate, p-nitrophenylphosphate, or nucleoside triphosphates (4–7, 62, 63). The polyphosphatase activities of the cell envelope, cytosol, vacuoles, nuclei, and mitochondrial matrix increased in the presence of divalent metal cations. However, the degree of stimulation of these polyphosphatases is different, depending on the nature of cations and their concentration. The cell envelope and cytosol polyphosphatases revealed great similarities in cation stimulation (5,7). The best activators, Mg^{2+} and Co^{2+} , stimulate these enzymes to the same optimal level (200 U/mg of protein), that is, 10- to 14fold. The soluble mitochondrial polyphosphatase was less stimulated (63). The vacuolar enzyme was stimulated only twofold by Mg²⁺. Co²⁺, the best activator, stimulated its activity sixfold (4). The nuclear polyphosphatase activity was stimulated twofold by divalent cations (62). A distinctive feature of the polyphosphatase activity of mitochondrial membrane is that the addition of divalent cations results

in the inhibition of activity, which also depends on the nature and concentration of cations (63). Purified preparations of exopolyphosphatases differ in their maximal activities. The highest are specific activities of the cytosol and cell envelope polyphosphatases (200–280 U/mg of protein with polyP₁₅) (4, 6). Specific activities of the vacuolar (5) and soluble mitochondrial (63) polyphosphatase were lower: \sim 60 and 2.2 U/mg of protein (with polyP₁₅), respectively. Exopolyphosphatases of cell envelope, cytosol, mitochondrial matrix, and nuclei can be called tripolyphosphatases because their activities with tripolyphosphate are 1.5-fold greater than with higher-molecular-weight polyP (4, 7, 62, 63). The polyphosphatase purified from vacuoles (5) exhibits only low activity on tripolyphosphate (7% of the activity with poly P_{208}). Although the cytosol polyphosphatase is able to split adenosine-5'tetraphosphate, the vacuolar polyphosphatase does not hydrolyze this compound. The vacuolar polyphosphatase is able to split polyphosphates only to tripolyphosphates, whereas the cytosol polyphosphatase can split them to pyrophosphates (4, 5). In mitochondrial membranes, tripolyphosphatase activities were somewhat lower than those for polyP₁₅ (63). The polyphosphatase activities were nearly the same on substrates ranging from polyP₉ to polyP₂₀₈ for polyphosphatases from the cell envelope, the cytosol (4,7), the nuclei (62), and a soluble mitochondrial preparation (63). On the contrary, the vacuolar and membrane-bound mitochondrial polyphosphatases hydrolyzed poly P_{208} more efficiently than they did poly P_{15} (5,63). The cell envelope and cytosol polyphosphatases are similar in their $K_{\rm m}$ values for polyPs with different chain lengths (400 μ M, 10 μ M, and 1 μ M for poly P_3 , poly P_{15} , and poly P_{208} , respectively). The apparent K_m values of the soluble mitochondrial enzyme are 300 μ M, 18 μ M, and 0.25 μ M at hydrolysis of polyPs with chain lengths of 3, 15, and 188 phosphate residues, respectively. For vacuolar enzymes, these values are higher: 110 μ M and 6 μ M for polyP₁₅ and polyP₂₀₈, respectively. The affinity of the above enzymes to polyP increases together with the length of chain, which suggests the existence of special sites for substrate length recognition in their molecules. Only the polyphosphatase of the nucleus has similar affinities to poly P_{15} and poly P_{208} ($K_{\rm m}$ value was 5 μ M).

The antibodies against the purified cell envelope polyphosphatase were effective inhibitors of polyphosphatases from cell envelope and cytosol, but they did not affect the vacuolar, nuclear, or mitochondrial membrane-bound polyphosphatase activities. These antibodies inhibited the soluble mitochodrial polyphosphatase by $\sim 30\%$, in contrast to the 80% inhibition of the cell envelope and cytosol polyphosphatases (4, 5, 62, 63).

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) had varied effects on polyphosphatase activities. Although EDTA decreased the polyphosphatase activities of vacuoles and nuclei by $\sim 30\%$ and had a poor effect on mitochondrial activities, it increased those of the purified cytosol and cell envelope enzymes 1.5-fold. Different effects of EDTA on polyphosphatase activities are probably caused by their different sensitivities to divalent metal cations (4).

The molecular mass, as determined by gel filtration and sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, was 40 kDa for the cell envelope

polyphosphatase (7) and the cytosol polyphosphatase (4) and 41 kDa for the soluble mitochondrial enzyme (LP Lichko, unpublished). These enzymes were monomers. The molecular mass of vacuolar polyphosphatase, as determined by gel filtration, was 240 kDa (5). For membrane-bound mitochondrial polyphosphatases molecular masses of 120 kDa and 76 kDa were reported (63).

Thus, the biochemical and immune properties of the cell envelope and cytosol polyphosphatases of the same yeast strain are similar. Polyphosphatases of nuclei, vacuoles, mitochondrial matrix, and membrane differ in terms of their kinetic and immune properties, substrate specificity, requirement for divalent cations, and in some effector actions both from cytosolic and cell-envelope polyphosphatases and from each other. This suggests differences in their functions.

Two polyphosphatases have been recently purified from homogenate of S. cerevisiae (67, 126). These enzymes have neutral pH optima and similar kinetic properties and substrate specificity, and they require divalent cations (preferably Mg²⁺ or Co^{2+}) for maximal activity. Their activity on tripolyphosphate is ~ 1.5 -fold higher than that on long-chain polyP. These enzymes are monomeric proteins, one of 40 kDa (126) and the other of 28 kDa (67). The properties of these enzymes are similar to those of cytosolic and cell-envelope exopolyphosphatases. Therefore, all of these polyphosphatases seem to be products of the PPXs gene (127), with possible posttranscriptional modifications. The vacuolar polyphosphatase is most likely encoded by another gene, because it differs markedly from the product of the PPXs gene in structure and properties. The existence in the yeast genome of other genes encoding exopolyphosphatases was proposed by Wurst et al (127). The amino-terminal sequence of a polyphosphatase from the soluble preparation of mitochondria of S. cerevisiae shows that this enzyme is not encoded by PPXs (LP Lichko, unpublished data). The vacuolar enzyme has a certain similarity to bacterial exopolyphosphatases in the values of specific activity and substrate specificity. However, in contrast to bacterial enzymes, the vacuolar polyphosphatase does not require K⁺. Comparison of the properties of bacterial polyphosphatases purified recently shows that they differ greatly from those of S. cerevisiae. There is no similarity between the properties of the soluble polyphosphatase from yeast mitochondria and those of the polyphosphatase from E. coli encoded by the ppx gene: the yeast mitochondrial enzyme is a monomer, whereas the enzyme of E. coli is a dimer; the mitochondrial enzyme hydrolyzes polyP₃, whereas the enzyme of E. coli fails; and the bacterial polyphosphatase is active only in the presence of K⁺, which is in contrast to the mitochondrial enzyme of S. cerevisiae. It seems reasonable to say that bacterial polyphosphatase has not been conserved in yeast mitochondria in the evolutionary process or that the ancient mitochondrial precursor was quite different from E. coli in this respect. The polyphosphatases of other lower eukaryotes have been studied much less.

Exopolyphosphatase purified from *N. crassa* is close to the yeast cytosol exopolyphosphatase as far as molecular mass and divalent cations requirement. The fact that it actually did not hydrolyze tripolyphosphate may be because of its low affinity to this substrate, which was used in a ten-fold-lower concentration than

 $K_{\rm m}$ for the yeast enzyme (54). Two other exopolyphosphatase activities were observed in the "slime" variant of *N. crassa*, which cannot synthesize cell walls (111, 112, 116). One of them was K⁺ and Mg²⁺ dependent and hydrolyzed high-molecular polyP, and the other was K⁺ and Mg²⁺ independent and hydrolyzed low-molecular polyP. The study of a number of exopolyphosphatases of the lower eukaryotes is important to clarify the polyP functions in each individual compartment of these microorganisms.

POLYPHOSPHATE FUNCTIONS

Phosphate Reserve

Prokaryotes The function of polyP as a phosphate reserve is well known (47, 52, 54). The content of polyP in the cells of microorganisms strongly depends on the phosphate content in the medium (52, 54). A large amount of polyP is characteristic of the bacteria from wastewaters with a high phosphate content. A. johnsonii (23), Microlunatus phosphovorus (74), and Microthrix parvicella (25), isolated from activated sludge, are examples of such bacteria. In A. johnsonii, these polymers make $\leq 30\%$ of dry biomass (23). In E. coli, the level of polyP drops drastically under phosphate starvation, and the subsequent addition of orthophosphate to the medium restores the initial phosphate level (76).

Eukaryotes The accumulation of phosphate reserves as polyP and its use at phosphate starvation occur also in eukaryotic microorganisms (52, 54). Yeasts are characterized by the phenomenon of phosphate overplus. If the cells after phosphate starvation are transferred to a phosphate-containing medium, then they accumulate higher contents of polyP. If the function of phosphorus reservation in bacteria is performed by the cytosol polyP, phosphorus in eukaryotic microorganisms is also reserved as polyP in vacuoles and the cell envelope. Under yeast growth on the medium without phosphate, the polyP content drops more than an order of magnitude in the cytosol, vacuoles, and cell wall (51). polyP granules of cytosol quickly disappear after the yeast is placed in a phosphate-deficient medium. In a P_i-deficient medium, a sharp decrease in the level of polyP both in whole cells and in vacuoles was noted; after 7 h of starvation, the polyP level in vacuoles decreased by 85%, which indicates active utilization of the entire polyP pool for the needs of the cell under these growth conditions (51).

Vacuoles are an important phosphorus reserve in yeasts and fungi (21, 82, 105, 114, 122). Under phosphate overplus, the content of polyP in vacuoles of *S. carls-bergensis* grew dramatically (64, 82). Some mutants of *S. cerevisiae* that have no vacuoles are unable to grow on the medium without P_i (105).

Energy Source

Prokaryotes In bacteria, the functions of polyP are associated with the energy metabolism. Belozersky (12) suggested that polyP in very primitive organisms

could perform the functions of energy-rich compounds. These suggestions were supported experimentally in a number of works (15, 34, 54, 58, 83). In many prokaryotes, polyP is a direct phosphorus donor for biochemical reactions. Under certain conditions, polyP kinase performs an ATP-regenerating function (58, 73). Other enzymes carrying out the interaction of polyP metabolism and nucleoside phosphates have also been studied. polyP:AMP phosphotransferase was purified from *Acinetobacter* strain 210A (15). The polyP glucokinase activity revealed by Szymona & Ostrowsky (108) and the ATP glucokinase activity were shown to be catalyzed by a single enzyme (34, 83). This bifunctional enzyme was purified from *Propionibacterium shermanii* (83) and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (34). polyP and ATP have separate binding sites with different regulatory properties (34, 83). It was proposed that the ATP glucokinase activity of this enzyme was developed later in evolution than was the polyP glucokinase activity (34, 83).

The function of polyP as an energy reserve is preserved also in eukaryotic microorganisms. Both the total content of polyP and its distribution by fractions in the yeast S. cerevisiae depend on the growth phase (117). Before glucose was consumed from the medium, the biomass and total cellular polyP content increased in parallel. After glucose depletion, the content of polyP in the cells fell sharply and then increased again. The significant decline of the content of intracellular polyP, while P_i was present in the growth medium at high concentrations, may imply that, in this growth phase, polyP is an energy rather than a phosphate source (117). The active synthesis of polyPs, accompanied by a dramatic decrease of their length in the logarithmic phase of S. cerevisiae growth in a carbon- and phosphorus-sufficient medium, also suggests that the energy derived from polyP hydrolysis is necessary to maintain the high rate of yeast growth (117). The induction of polyP synthesis in the yeast cell in parallel with the exit of K⁺ ions from the cell also suggests the possibility of polyP participation in retention of energy of the transmembrane K⁺ gradient (81). The experimental evidence of polyP participation in the mitochondrial energy metabolism has been obtained, and mitochondrial ATP generation directly from polyP has been proposed (11).

Cation Sequestration and Storage

Prokaryotes Another important function of polyP is involvement in detoxification of heavy metal cations. polyP sequesters nickel in *Staphylococcus aureus* (28). The cells of *Anacystis nidulans* with high intracellular polyP levels showed a greater tolerance to cadmium than those with small polyP reserves (45). The cadmium tolerance of *E. coli* also depends on the polyP metabolism (43). The following mechanism of polyP participation in the detoxification of heavy metals has been proposed: polyP sequesters heavy metals, and the entry of metal cations into cells stimulates exopolyphosphatase activity, which releases P_i from polyP. The metal-phosphate complexes are then transported out of the cells (41, 43).

In eukaryotes, this function is observed in vacuoles. Vacuoles accumulate amino acids (123), K, Mg²⁺, and Mn²⁺ (82). polyP is able to confine different cations in an osmotically inert form (21, 24). Arginine accumulated in vacuoles was shown to form a complex with polyP (21, 24). In the vacuoles of N. crassa, spermidine was found along with arginine, and almost half of the polyP in these organelles was considered to form complexes with these amines (21). The accumulation of K⁺, Mn²⁺, and Mg²⁺ ions in the vacuoles of S. carlbergensis correlates well with the increase in the polyP content (64). This reconfirms the proposal that these cations are able to form the appropriate complexes. This complex-forming function of polyP may be very important for yeast cells, because, under short-term phosphate starvation in the presence of metal cations in the medium, the vacuolar polyP content decreases, but only slightly (64, 82). A stable P_i content in the cytosol under the above conditions is maintained mainly because of a decrease in the vacuolar P_i pool but not in the vacuolar polyP pool (64). polyPs of the cell envelope could also be the first barrier that heavy metal cations encounter during penetration into a cell.

Cell Envelope Formation and Function

polyP participates in the cell envelope formation and function both in prokaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms. *Neisseria* mutants lacking capsular polyP have a lower pathogenicity than does the wild-type strain (109).

polyP in the cell envelope is of great importance for the maintenance of the negative charge on the cell surface of fungi (37, 115). It can bind with the cationic dye 9-aminoacrydine (9AA) in the presence of thiamine, an inhibitor of the dye translocation across the plasma membrane (115). By measuring the 9AA absorption rate, one can determine variations in the polyP content in the cell envelope. Various P_i concentrations in the medium result in significant variations of the polyP content in the yeast, which has an effect on 9AA absorption by the cell envelope. The phosphate starvation of cells resulted in a significant decline of their ability to absorb 9AA, whereas their subsequent growth on a P_i-rich medium promoted higher absorption of the dye. The pretreatment of cells with the uranium dioxide anion decreased the 9AA sorption by \sim 80%. These results are evidence of the appreciable contribution of polyP to the total negative charge of the cell envelope (115). The extent of the cytoplasmic membrane damage by different ionic compounds depends on the polyP content in the cell envelope (37). The mechanism of polyP involvement in the cell wall biosynthesis has been described previously (100–102). The changes in the cellular content of polyP fractions located in the periphery of yeast cells were investigated, and their association with the formation of cell walls in S. cerevisiae was proposed (51, 54).

Gene Activity Control

Prokaryotes Direct evidence of polyP involvement in the regulation of gene expression in bacteria has now been obtained (46, 60, 89, 104). RNA polymerase isolated from the stationary-phase cells of *E. coli* was found to be closely associated

with polyP (60). Using two forms of the holoenzyme, one containing σ^{70} (the major sigma factor for transcription of the genes expressed during exponential cell growth) and the other containing σ^{38} (the sigma factor operating in the stationary phase), the inhibitory effects of polyP on transcription were examined. At low salt concentrations, polyP inhibited the transcription by both forms of RNA polymerase, with σ^{70} and with σ^{38} . At high salt concentrations, the σ^{38} -containing enzyme is activated, but the σ^{70} -containing enzyme is not able to function. These results show that polyP may play a certain role in the promoter selectivity control of RNA polymerase in *E. coli* growing under high osmolarity and during the stationary growth phase (60). The genetic data were also obtained, which confirmed that polyP is important for inducing the expression of the stationary-phase sigma factor in *E. coli* (104).

Eukaryotes The participation of polyP in the regulation of gene activity is one of the most important functions of these compounds in eukaryotic microorganisms. The mechanism of this involvement is still little studied; however, many facts favor this concept. Eukaryotes possess polyP in the nuclei (52, 54). It is well known that their biosynthesis occurs simultaneously with the total RNA synthesis (52). In the nuclei, polyP is related to the fraction of nonhistone proteins (52, 80). polyP₆₀ that is present in DNA preparations from filamentous fungal species of Colletotrichum inhibits restriction endonucleases and other enzymes (96). N. crassa nuclei were revealed to contain a polyP depolymerase (52, 54), and S. cerevisiae nuclei were revealed to contain a polyphosphatase (62). polyPs in fungi are probably involved in the on-and-off switching of large groups of genes during sporulation. Significant changes of nuclear polyP are observed during this process. Degradation of high-molecular polyP to low-molecular fragments in the nuclei during sporulation is observed in the fungus Agaricus bisporus (52, 54) and in the fungus *Physarvum polycephalum* (86).

Regulation of Enzyme Activities

Being a polyanion, polyP can exhibit an inhibitory activity for a number of enzymes. polyP inhibits restriction endonucleases (96) and RNA-degrading enzymes (13). polyP inhibited trehalase from vegetative yeast cells and, to a lesser extent, from spores (124). Polygalacturonase activity (which is important for pathogenicity) from the phytopathogenic fungus *Botrytis cinerea* was inhibited in vitro by extracellular polyP (71). In addition, polyP is most likely involved in the regulation of enzyme activities by participation in their phosphorylation. A protein kinase that uses not ATP but high-polymer polyP was found in the archaebacterium *Sulfolobus acidocaldarius* (106).

Stress Response and Stationary-Phase Adaptation

Prokaryotes The involvement of polyP in the regulation of both enzyme activities and expression of large groups of genes is the basis of survival of different bacteria, including pathogens, under stress conditions and adaptation to

the stationary-growth phase (46, 47, 49, 59, 88, 89, 104). Kornberg and coworkers (47, 49) have shown that polyP kinase and polyP synthesized by this enzyme play the key role in the transition of bacteria from active growth to the stationary phase, as well as in their survival in the stationary phase and under stress. The important role of polyP kinase in the survival of E. coli under stress and starvation was established by the study of mutants deficient in the ppk gene (22). Mutant cells show no phenotypic changes during the exponential phase of growth (22). During the stationary phase, mutants survive poorly and are less resistant to heat, oxidants, and osmotic challenge (22, 88). The ppk mutants of N. gonorrhoeae and N. meningitidis grew less vigorously than did wild-type cells and showed a striking increase in sensitivity to human serum (109). Various mechanisms providing the above processes have been proposed. First, polyP kinase may be involved in the regulation of the level of nucleoside triphosphates and deoxynucleoside triphosphates, whereas this enzyme can convert GDP and other nucleoside diphosphates to nucleotide triphosphates by using polyP (46, 58). Second, this enzyme may influence the mRNA stability (13). The polyP kinase in the degradosome appears to maintain the appropriate microenvironment by removing the inhibitory polyP and nucleoside diphosphates and permitting ATP regeneration (13). Third, polyP is directly involved in the regulation of RNA polymerase expression and activity (60, 104). Finally, bacteria possess pppGpp that yields guanosine tetraphosphate (ppGpp) upon hydrolysis. This is the so-called stringent factor, which is a known regulator of ribosome function and protein biogenesis in bacteria under the conditions of amino acid starvation. The pppGpp phosphohydrolase of E. coli exhibits an exopolyphosphatase activity, and polyP may be involved in the regulation of pppGpp hydrolysis (42, 46, 59). On the other hand, the major E. coli exopolyphosphatase is inhibited by pppGpp. This disturbs the dynamic balance between the polyP synthesis and hydrolysis (59). The interaction of polyP metabolism and both ppGpp and pppGpp metabolism in E. coli is being actively studied (42, 46, 59) and described in detail in reviews (49, 97). Here, we mention but a few important facts. Generation of high levels of ppGpp and pppGpp in response to amino acid starvation in E. coli results in a significant accumulation of polyP (59). This accumulation can be attributed to the inhibition by pppGpp and/or ppGpp of polyP hydrolysis by exopolyphosphatase (59). Accumulation of polyP requires the functional PHOB gene and higher levels of ppGpp or pppGpp (89). In E. coli, the genes ppk and ppx are in the same operon, which results in a coordinated regulation of their activities (89). It should be noted that different bacteria may have different predominant mechanisms of polyP participation for surviving under stress and stationary-growth phase, or they may have other mechanisms that have not been studied yet. For instance, in H. pylori, the pppGpp level does not rise as a result of amino acid starvation (99).

Eukaryotes For eukaryotic microorganisms, the involvement of polyP in biochemical regulation under stresses has also been observed. This function of polyP obviously remains one of the most important. The involvement of vacuolar polyP in survival under osmotic or alkaline stresses was shown in algae and fungi. In

the alga D. salina, alkalinization of the cytoplasm results in massive hydrolysis of polyP, which results in pH restoration. Pick and coworkers (84, 85) suggested that the hydrolysis of polyP provides the pH-stat mechanism to counterbalance the alkaline stress. It was suggested that the accumulation of amines within vacuoles (in response to amine-induced alkaline stress) activates a specific phosphatase that hydrolyzes long-chain polyP to tripolyphosphates (85). This phosphatase appears to be activated at the neutral or mildly alkaline pH and repressed at the physiological intravacuolar acidic pH. Currently, two enzymes that can catalyze this process have been purified. An exopolyphosphatase that hydrolyzes long-chain polyP but not tripolyphosphate was purified from yeast vacuoles (5). The optimal pH of this enzyme was neutral (5). An endopolyphosphatase could also be involved in this process. Such an enzyme has recently been purified from yeasts, and its vacuolar localization is assumed (57). It is important that yeasts showed the accumulation of tripolyphosphate after polyP hydrolysis was induced by amines and basic amino acids (29). The role of polyP as a buffer was demonstrated in N. crassa under osmotic stress (129). The hypoosmic shock produced a rapid hydrolysis of polyP with an increase in the concentration of cytoplasmic phosphate (129).

It has been reported that polyP participates in the repair of radiation damage in yeasts by acting as an alternative energy supply and phosphate source (33).

The metabolism of polyP in eukaryotic microorganisms might be directly related to the metabolism of such second messengers as diadenosinetetra-, penta-, and hexapolyphosphates and their derivatives. These second messengers are accumulated in yeasts under stress conditions (10). It was found that the exopolyphosphatase of the cytosol of *S. cerevisiae* is capable of hydrolyzing adenosine-5′-tetraphosphate and guanosine-5′-tetraphosphate about twofold more actively than polyP₁₅ (30, 51). The apparent $K_{\rm m}$ value is 80 μ M for these substrates and 1 μ M for polyP₂₀₈ (51). Thus, polyP may be an effective inhibitor of hydrolysis of the above compounds. It is possible that the metabolic pathways of inorganic polyP and diadenosine polyphosphates and their derivatives in yeasts are interrelated, just as the prokaryotes show an interrelation between the metabolic pathways of polyP and those of pppGpp and ppGpp.

Membrane Channels

One of the findings that greatly changed our views on the functions of polyP was the detection of polyP/hydroxybutyrate complexes in membranes of organisms of different evolutionary stages (91–95). Both prokaryotic and eukaryotic membranes possess complexes of polyP, Ca^{2+} , and $poly-\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate. The ability of these complexes to form voltage-activated calcium channels was shown in the synthetic planar lipid bilayer and in membrane vesicles from *E. coli* (92, 93). An increase in the content of such complexes in the membranes is followed by the appearance of rigid domains and disruption of lipid bilayer conformation (19). The amount of the complexes increases in transformation-competent bacterial cells whose membranes are easily permeable for DNA (19, 35). These complexes were proposed to be involved in DNA transport into the cell (19, 35). Most intriguing

was the report that Ca²⁺-ATPase purified from human erythrocytes contained such complexes and exhibited ATP-polyP transferase and polyP-ADP transferase activities (94). These findings suggest a novel supramolecular structure for the functional Ca²⁺-ATPase (94). In the opinion of Reusch (93), polyP/polyhydroxybutyrate channels may be the most ancient form of ionic channels, which were conserved in the evolution from prokaryotes to eukaryotes.

Phosphate Pumps

The structure of polyP/polyhydroxybutyrate complexes suggests that they may function as a phosphate pump under the condition that the polyP chain is extended on one side of the membrane, whereas orthophosphate is split from its end on the other side. This hypothetical scheme includes Ca²⁺ and phosphate cotranslocation across the membrane (92, 93). The direction of transport in this case should depend on the location of polyP-synthesizing and polyP-hydrolyzing enzymes from different sides of the membrane. Probably, such a process occurs in lysosomes and vacuoles, their functional analogs in microorganisms. P_i transported into isolated lysosomes is quickly incorporated into high-molecular polyP (87). Yeast vacuoles are able to accumulate P_i independently of the electrochemical proton gradient at the vacuolar membrane, in contrast to some other transport systems at the vacuolar membrane (55). The process of P_i transport into yeast vacuoles is similar to that observed in lysosomes of animal cells; therefore, it is possible that polyP in these organelles participates in the P_i transport.

The mechanisms of polyP participation both in the process of transmembrane phosphate transfer and in its regulation in A. johnsonii were intensively studied (120). In particular, it was noted that the two systems, the polyP:AMP phosphotransferase/adenylate kinase system and the electrogenic excretion of MeHPO₄ in symport with a proton, are important for maintaining the proton motive force during anaerobiosis in A. johnsonii (120). The interrelation of polyP and phosphate transport seems to be evident from the fact that polyP is a phosphorus reserve and its accumulation depends on phosphate content in the medium. The genes encoding the enzymes of polyP metabolism were proposed to form a phosphate regulon together with a number of other genes, the products of which are involved in phosphate metabolism and transport (77). At present, the interrelation of polyP metabolism and the activities of PHO and PHOB regulons is supplemented with new details (49, 89). Possibly, polyP, a polyanionic molecule that could interact with many other biopolymers, was an ancient prototype of a membrane channel. Its role in the transport processes was probably preserved during the evolution from prokaryotes to eukaryotes.

POLYPHOSPHATES AND LIFE EVOLUTION

In the opinion of some authors, polyP could have an abiotic origin (121, 128), although other authors do not agree with this proposition (44). Model experiments showed that polyP probably played an important role in abiogenic synthesis

of nucleic acids and other macromolecules on the primordial Earth (52, 54). Quite a number of facts support the idea that these polymers are of very ancient evolutionary origin.

The study of some "fossil reactions" in primitive prokaryotes has shown an important role of polyP in their bioenergetics. Thus, glucokinase has a higher activity with polyP than with ATP in phylogenetically more ancient prokaryotic microorganisms, whereas the younger systematic groups show quite the opposite. In eukaryotes, this enzyme uses only ATP. A number of enzymes of the polyP metabolism are revealed in prokaryotes but not in eukaryotes. In the course of evolution from prokaryotes to eukaryotes, the energetic role of polyP decreased. However, other functions appeared, such as phosphate storage, cation chelation, regulation of enzyme activities, gene expression, and membrane transport. The significance of the regulatory functions of polyP increased in eukaryotes. These functions are predominant in animal cells, in which polyP participates mainly in the transport across the membranes and in the regulation of gene expression. The polyP amount in animals is quite low, but this compound occurs in various tissues and cell compartments.

Recent studies of the properties and functions of polyP-metabolizing enzymes from different cell compartments of eukaryotic microorganisms provide further support to the idea of the endosymbiotic origin of organelles (70, 75). According to the modern conception, archae played a key role in formation of the primary eukaryotic cell. Ancient archae were probably precursors of vacuoles and host cells (75). Therefore, future comparative investigations of polyP metabolism in archae and bacteria will provide a better understanding of the evolution of polyP functions.

CONCLUSION

In microbial cells, inorganic polyP plays a significant role in increasing cell resistance to unfavorable environmental conditions and in regulating different biochemical processes. polyP is a polyfunctional compound. Its most important functions are as follows: reservation of phosphate and energy, sequestration and storage of cations, formation of membrane channels, participation in phosphate transport, involvement in cell envelope formation and function, control of gene activity, and regulation of enzyme activities. As a result, polyP plays an important role in stress response and stationary-phase adaptation.

The functions of polyP changed greatly during the evolution of living organisms. In prokaryotes, the most important functions are energy source and phosphate reserve. In eukaryotic microorganisms, the regulatory functions predominate. Therefore, there is a great difference between prokaryotes and eukaryotes in their polyP-metabolizing enzymes. Eukaryotes do not possess some key prokaryotic enzymes, but they developed new polyP-metabolizing enzymes that are absent in prokaryotes. The synthesis and degradation of polyP in each specialized organelle and compartment of eukaryotic cells are mediated by different sets of

enzymes, which is consistent with the endosymbiotic hypothesis of eukaryotic cell origin.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Professor C Slayman of Yale University for allowing the use of the library and for fruitful discussion. We thank our colleagues Dr. NA Andreeva, Dr. LP Lichko, Dr. VM Vagabov, and Dr. LV Trilisenko for their contributions, and L Ledova and E Gorshkova for help in the preparation of the manuscript. The authors were supported by grants from the Russian Foundation of Fundamental Research 99-04-48246 and INCO-COPERNICUS-PL971185.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Ahn K, Kornberg A. 1990. Polyphosphate kinase from *Escherichia coli*. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:11734–39
- Akiyama M, Crooke E, Kornberg A. 1992. The polyphosphate kinase gene of *Escherichia coli*: isolation and sequence of the *ppk* gene and membrane location of the protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:22556–61
- 3. Akiyama M, Crooke E, Kornberg A. 1993. An exopolyphosphatase of *Escherichia coli*: the enzyme and its *ppx* gene in a polyphosphate operon. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:633–39
- Andreeva NA, Kulakovskaya TV, Karpov AV, Sidorov IA, Kulaev IS. 1998. Purification and properties of polyphosphatase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae cytosol. Yeast 14:383–90
- Andreeva NA, Kulakovskaya TV, Kulaev IS. 1998. Purification and properties of exopolyphosphatase isolated from Saccharomyces cerevisiae vacuoles. FEBS Lett. 429:194–96
- Andreeva NA, Lichko LP, Kulakovskaya TV, Okorokov LA. 1993. Characterization of polyphosphatase activity of vacuoles of the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochemistry (Moscow) 58:737–44
- Andreeva NA, Okorokov LA. 1993. Purification and characterization of highly active and stable polyphosphatase from

- Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell envelope. Yeast 9:127–39
- Ault-Riche D, Fraley CD, Tzeng CM, Kornberg A. 1998. Novel assay reveals multiple pathways regulating stress-induced accumulations of inorganic polyphosphate in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 180:1841–47
- Baltscheffsky M, Baltscheffsky H. 1992. Inorganic pyrophosphate and inorganic pyrophosphatase. In *Molecular Mechanisms in Bioenergetics*, ed. L Ernster, pp. 331–48. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- Baltzinger M, Ebel JP, Remy P. 1986.
 Accumulation of dinucleoside polyphosphates in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* under stress conditions: High levels are associated with cell death. *Biochimie* 68:1231–36
- 11. Beauvoit B, Rigonlet M, Guerin B, Canioni P. 1989. Polyphosphates as a source of high energy phosphates in yeast mitochondria: a P-NMR study. *FEBS Lett.* 252:17–22
- Belozersky AN. 1958. The formation and function of polyphosphates in the development processes of some lower organisms. *Int. Biochim. Congr., 4th, Vienna*, pp. 3–12
- Blum E, Py B, Carpousis AJ, Higgins CF. 1997. Polyphosphate kinase is a component of the *Escherichia coli* RNA degradosome. *Mol. Microbiol.* 26:387–98

- Bode G, Mauch F, Ditschuneit H, Malfertheiner P. 1993. Identification of structures containing polyphosphate in *Helicobac*ter pylori. J. Gen. Microbiol. 139:3029– 33
- Bonting CF, Korstee GJ, Zehnder AJ.
 1991. Properties of polyphosphate:AMP phosphotransferase of *Acinetobacter* strain 210A. *J. Bacteriol.* 173:6484–88
- Bonting CF, Kortstee GJ, Zehnder AJ.
 1993. Properties of polyphosphatase of Acinetobacter johnsonii 210 A. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek J. Microbiol. Serol. 64:75–81
- Booth JW, Guidotti G. 1995. An alleged yeast polyphosphate kinase is actually diadenosine-5',5"'-P¹,P⁴-tetraphosphate α, β-phosphorylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270: 19377–82
- Bourne RM. 1990. A 31-P-NRM study of phosphate transport and compartmentation in *Candida utilis*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1055:1–9
- Castuma CE, Huang R, Kornberg A, Reusch RN. 1995. Inorganic polyphosphates in the acquisition of competence in *Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem.* 270:12980–83
- Chen KY. 1999. Study of polyphosphate metabolism in intact cells by 31-P-nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. In *Inorganic Polyphosphates: Biochemistry, Biology, Biotechnology*, ed. HC Schroder, WGE Muller, pp. 253–75. Berlin/Heidelberg/New York: Springer-Verlag
- Cramer CL, Davis RH. 1984. Polyphosphate-cation interaction in the aminocontaining vacuoles of *Neurospora crassa*. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259:5152–57
- Crooke E, Akiyama M, Rao NN, Kornberg A. 1994. Genetically altered levels of inorganic polyphosphate in *Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem.* 269:6290–95
- Deinema MH, Van Loosdrecht M, Scholten A. 1985. Some physiological characteristics of *Acinetobacter* spp. accumulating

- large amounts of phosphate. *Water Sci. Technol.* 17:119–25
- Durr M, Urech K, Boller T, Wiemken A, Schwencke J, Nagy M. 1979. Sequestration of arginine by polyphosphate in vacuoles of yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Arch. Microbiol. 121:169–75
- Erhart R, Bradford D, Sevior RJ, Amann R, Blackall LL. 1997. Development and use of fluorescent in situ hybridisation probes for the detection and identification of Microtrix parvicella in activated sludge. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 20:310–18
- 26. Felter S, Stahl AJC. 1973. Enzymes du métabolisme des polyphosphates dans la leure. III. Purification et propriétés de la polyphosphate-ADP-phosphotransférase. *Biochimie* 55:245–51
- Geissdorfer W, Ratajczak G, Hillen W. 1998. Transcription of ppk from Acinetobacter sp. strain ADP1, encoding a putative polyphosphate kinase, is induced by phosphate starvation. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64:896–901
- Gonzalez H, Jensen TE. 1998. Nickel sequestering by polyphosphate bodies in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Microbios* 93:179–85
- Greenfeld NJ, Hussain M, Lenard J. 1987. Effect of growth state and amines on cytoplasm and vacuolar pH, phosphate and polyphosphate levels in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: a 31-P-nuclear magnetic resonance study. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 926:205–14
- Guranowski A, Starzynska E, Barnes LD, Robinson AK, Liu S. 1998. Adenosine 5'-tetraphosphate phosphohydrolase activity is an inherent property of soluble exopolyphosphatase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1380:232–38
- Hardoyo, Yamada K, Shinjo H, Kato J, Ohtake H. 1994. Production and release of polyphosphate by a genetically engineered strain of *Escherichia coli*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60:3485–90

- Harold FM. 1966. Inorganic polyphosphates in biology: structure, metabolism, and functions. *Bacteriol. Rev.* 30:772–85
- Holahan PK, Knizner SA, Gabriel CM, Swenberg CE. 1988. Alterations in phosphate metabolism during cellular recovery of radiation damage in yeast. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 54:545–62
- 34. Hsieh PC, Shenoy BC, Jentoft JE, Phillips NFB. 1993. Purification of polyphosphate and ATP glucose phosphotransferase from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* H37Ra: evidence that poly(P) and ATP glucokinase activities are catalyzed by the same enzyme. *Protein Expr. Purif.* 4:76–84
- Huang RP, Reusch RN. 1995. Genetic competence in *Escherichia coli* requires polybeta-hydroxybutyrate calcium polyphosphate membrane complexes and certain divalent cations. *J. Bacteriol.* 177:486–90
- Ischige K, Kameds A, Noguchi T, Shiba T. 1998. The polyphosphate kinase gene of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. DNA Res. 5:157–62
- Ivanov AJ, Vagabov VM, Fomchenkov VM, Kulaev IS. 1996. Study of the influence of polyphosphates of cell envelope on the sensitivity of yeast Saccharomyces carlsbergensis to the cytyl-3-methylammonium bromide. Microbiology 65:611–16
- Jacobson L, Helman M, Yariv J. 1982. The molecular composition of the volutin granules of yeast. *Biochem. J.* 201:437–79
- Kato J, Yamada K, Muramatsu A, Hardoyo, Ohtake H. 1993. Genetic improvement of *Escherichia coli* for enhanced biological removal of phosphate from waste water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 59:3744–49
- Kato J, Yamamoto T, Yamada K, Othake H. 1993. Cloning, sequence and characterization of the polyphosphate kinase-encoding gene (ppk) of Klebsiella aerogenes. Gene 137:237–42
- 41. Keasling JD. 1997. Regulation of intracellular toxic metals and other cations by hy-

- drolysis of polyphosphate. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 829:243–49
- Keasling JD, Bertsch L, Kornberg A. 1993. Guanosine pentaphosphate phosphohydrolase of *Escherichia coli* is a long-chain exopolyphosphatase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:7029–33
- Keasling JD, Hupf GA. 1996. Genetic manipulation of polyphosphate metabolism affects cadmium tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62:743–46
- Keefe AD, Miller SL. 1996. Potentially prebiotic synthesis of condensed phosphates. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 26:15–25
- Keyhani S, Lopez JL, Clark DS, Keasling JD. 1996. Intracellular polyphosphate content and cadmium tolerance in *Anacystis* nidulans R2. Microbios 88:105–14
- 46. Kim HY, Schlictman D, Shankar S, Xie ZD, Chakrabarty AM, Kornberg A. 1998. Alginate, inorganic polyphosphate, GTP and ppGpp synthesis co-regulated in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: implications for stationary phase survival and synthesis of RNA/DNA precursors. *Mol. Microbiol*. 27:717–25
- Kornberg A. 1995. Inorganic polyphosphate: toward making a forgotten polymer unforgettable. *J. Bacteriol*. 177:491–96
- 48. Kornberg A, Kornberg S, Simms E. 1956. Methaphosphate synthesis by enzyme from *Escherichia coli*. *Biochim*. *Biophys. Acta* 20:215–27
- Kornberg A, Rao NN, Ault-Rich D. 1999.
 Inorganic polyphosphate: a molecule with many functions. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 68:89–125
- Krupyanko VI, Vagabov VM, Trilisenko LV, Schipanova IN, Sibel'dina LA, Kulaev IS. 1998. A hypochromic effect of signal attenuation in the P-31-NRM spectra of linear polyphosphates. *Appl. Biochim. Microbiol.* 34:392–95
- Kulaev I, Vagabov V, Kulakovskaya T. 1999. New aspects of polyphosphate metabolism and function. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 88:111–129

- Kulaev IS. 1979. The Biochemistry of Inorganic Polyphosphates. New York: Wiley. 234 pp.
- Kulaev IS, Bobyk MA. 1971. Demonstration of new enzyme 1,3-di-phosphoglycerate: polyphosphate phosphotransferase in *Neurospora crassa*. *Biokhimia* 36:426–29
- Kulaev IS, Vagabov VM. 1983. Polyphosphate metabolism in microorganisms. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 24:83–171
- Kulakovskaya TV, Kulaev IS. 1997. Transport of phosphate into vacuoles of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microbiol. SEM 13:71–74
- Kumble KD, Kornberg A. 1995. Inorganic polyphosphate in mammalian cells and tissues. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:5818–22
- Kumble KD, Kornberg A. 1996. Endopolyphosphatases for long chain polyphosphate in yeast and mammals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:27146–51
- Kuroda A, Kornberg A. 1997. Polyphosphate kinase as a nucleoside diphosphate kinase in *Escherichia coli* and *Pseu*domonas aeruginosa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94:439–42
- Kuroda A, Murphy H, Cashel M, Kornberg A. 1997. Guanosine tetra- and pentaphosphate promote accumulation of inorganic polyphosphate in *Escherichia coli. J. Biol.* Chem. 272:21240–43
- Kusano S, Ishihama A. 1997. Functional interaction of *Escherichia coli* RNA polymerase with inorganic polyphosphate. *Genes Cells* 2:433–41
- Langen P, Liss E. 1958. Über den Polyphosphates der Hefe. Naturwissenschaften 45:191–97
- Lichko LP, Kulakovskaya TV, Kulaev IS. 1996. Characterization of the nuclear polyphosphatase activity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochemistry 61:361– 66
- Lichko LP, Kulakovskaya TV, Kulaev IS. 1998. Membrane-bound and soluble polyphosphatases of mitochondria

- of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: identification and comparative characterization. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1372:153–62
- Lichko LP, Okorokov LA, Kulaev IS. 1982. Participation of vacuoles in regulation of K⁺, Mg²⁺ and orthophosphate ions in cytoplasm of the yeast Saccharomyces carlsbergensis. Arch. Microbiol. 132:289–93
- Lieberman L. 1888. Über das Nuclein der Hefe und Künstliche Darstellung eines Nucleus Eiweiss und Metaphosphätsaure. Ber. Chem. Ges. 21:598–607
- Lorenz B, Leuck J, Kohl D, Muller WEG, Schroder HC. 1997. Anti-HIV-1 activity of inorganic polyphosphates. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 14:110–18
- Lorenz B, Muller WEG, Kulaev IS, Schroder HCJ. 1994. Purification and characterization of an exopolyphosphatase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 269:22198–204
- Lorenz B, Munkner J, Oliveira MP, Kuusksalu A, Leitao JM, et al. 1997. Changes in metabolism of inorganic polyphosphate in rat tissues and human cells during development and apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta 1335:51–60
- Mansurova SE. 1989. Inorganic pyrophosphate in mitochondrial metabolism. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 977:237–47
- Margulis L. 1993. Symbiosis in Cell Evolution. San Francisco: Freeman
- Mellerharel Y, Argaman A, Benbashat D, Navon G, Aharonowitz Y, et al. 1997. Inhibition by polyphosphate of phytopathogenic polygalacturonases from *Botrytis cinerea*. Can. J. Microbiol. 43: 835–40
- Murata K, Kato J, Chibata I. 1979. Continuous production of NADP by immobilized *Brevibacterium ammoniagenes* cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 21:887–95
- Murata K, Uchida T, Kato J, Chibata I. 1988. Polyphosphate kinase: distribution, some properties and its application as

- an ATP regeneration system. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* 52:1471–77
- Nakamura K, Hiraishi A, Yoshimi Y, Kawaharasaki M, Masuda K, et al. 1995. Microlunatus phosphovorus gen. nov. sp. nov., a new gram-positive polyphosphateaccumulating bacterium isolated from activated sludge. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 45:17– 22
- Nelson N. 1992. Evolution of organellar proton-ATPases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1100:109–24
- Nesmeyanova MA, Dmitriev AD, Kulaev IS. 1974. Regulation of enzymes of phosphate metabolism and polyP level by exogenous orthophosphate in *E. coli* K-12. *Microbiologia* 43:227–32
- Nesmeyanova MA, Gonina SA, Kulaev IS. 1975. Biosynthesis of polyP and alkaline phosphatase in *E. coli* is under control of integrated regulatory genes. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 224:710–12
- Noguchi T, Shiba T. 1998. Use of Escherichia coli polyphosphate kinase for oligosaccharide synthesis. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 62:1594–96
- Nunez CGA, Callier DAS. 1989. Studies on the polyphosphate cycle in *Candida* utilis: effect of dilution rate and nitrogen source in continuous culture. *Appl. Micro*biol. Biotechnol. 31:562–66
- Offenbacher S, Kline H. 1984. Evidence for polyphosphate in phosphorylated non histone nuclear proteins. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 231:114–23
- Okorokov LA, Lichko LP, Andreeva NA. 1983. Changes of ATP, polyphosphate and K⁺ contents in *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis* during uptake of Mn²⁺ and glucose. *Biochem. Int.* 6:481–88
- Okorokov LA, Lichko LP, Kulaev IS. 1980. Vacuoles: the main compartment of potassium, magnesium and phosphate ions in *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis* cells. *J. Bacteriol.* 144:661–65
- 83. Phillips NF, Horn PJ, Wood HG. 1993. The polyphosphate and ATP dependent gluco-

- kinase from *Propionibacterium shermanii*: Both activities are catalyzed by the same protein. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 300:309–19
- Pick U, Bental M, Chitlaru E, Weiss M. 1990. Polyphosphate-hydrolysis—a protective mechanism against alkaline stress? FEBS Lett. 274:15–18
- Pick U, Weiss M. 1991. Polyphosphate hydrolysis within acidic vacuoles in response to amino-induced alkaline stress in the halotolerant alga *Dunaliella salina*. *Plant Physiol*. 97:1234–40
- Pilatus U, Mayer A, Hildebrandt A. 1989. Nuclear polyphosphate as a possible source of energy during the sporulation of *Physarum polycephalum*. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 275:215–23
- Pisoni RL, Lindley ER. 1992. Incorporation of [32-P] orthophosphate into long chain of inorganic polyphosphate within lysosomes of human fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:3626–31
- Rao NN, Kornberg A. 1996. Inorganic polyphosphate supports resistance and survival of stationary-phase *Escherichia coli*. *J. Bacteriol*. 178:1394–400
- 89. Rao NN, Liu S, Kormberg A. 1998. Inorganic polyphosphate in *Escherichia coli*: the phosphate regulon and the stringent response. *J. Bacteriol*. 180:2186–93
- Rao NN, Torriani A. 1988. Utilization by *Escherichia coli* of high-molecularweight, linear polyphosphate: roles of phosphates and pore proteins. *J. Bacteriol*. 170:5216–23
- 91. Reusch RN. 1989. Poly-beta-hydroxybutyrate/calcium polyphosphate complexes in eukaryotic membranes. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 191:377–81
- Reusch RN. 1992. Biological complexes of poly-\(\theta\)-hydroxybutyrate. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 103:119–30
- Reusch RN. 1999. Polyphosphate/poly-(R)-3 hydroxybutyrate in channels ion cell membranes. See Ref. 97, pp. 151–83
- 94. Reusch RN, Huang RP, Koskkosicka D.

- 1997. Novel components and enzymatic activities of the human erythrocyte plasma membrane calcium pump. *FEBS Lett.* 412:592–96
- Reusch RN, Sadoff HL. 1988. Putative structure and functions of poly-betahydroxybutyrate/calcium polyphosphate channel in bacterial plasma membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:4176–80
- Rodriguez RJ. 1993. Polyphosphate present in DNA preparation from filamentous fungal species of *Colletotrichum* inhibits restriction endonucleases and other enzymes. *Anal. Biochem.* 209:291–97
- Schroder HC, Muller WGE, eds. 1999. *Inorganic Polyphosphates: Biochemistry, Biology, Biotechnology. Progress in Molecular and Subcellular Biology*, Vol. 23. Berlin/Heidelberg/New York: Springer-Verlag. 317 pp.
- Schuddemat J, de Boo R, Van Leeuwen CCM, Van den Broek PJA, Van Steveninck J. 1989. Polyphosphate synthesis in yeast. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 100:191–98
- Scoarughi GL, Cimmino C, Donini P. 1999. Helicobacter pylori: a eubacterium lacking the stringent response. J. Bacteriol. 181:552–55
- Shabalin YA, Kulaev IS. 1989. Solubilization and properties of yeast dolichylpyrophosphate:polyphosphate phosphotransferase. *Biokhimia* 54:68–75
- 101. Shabalin YA, Vagabov VM, Kulaev IS. 1979. On the coupling mechanism of biosynthesis of high-molecular polyphosphates and mannan in Saccharomyces carlsbergensis yeast. Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR 249:243–46
- 102. Shabalin YA, Vagabov VM, Kulaev IS. 1985. Dolychildiphosphatemannose—an intermediate of glycoprotein biosynthesis in yeast? Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR 283:720–23
- 103. Shabalin YA, Vagabov VM, Tsiomenko AB, Zemlianuhina OA, Kulaev IS. 1977. Study of polyphosphate kinase activity in

- the yeast vacuoles. *Biokhimia* 42:1642–48
- 104. Shiba T, Tsutsumi K, Yano H, Ihara Y, Kameda A, et al. 1997. Inorganic polyphosphate and the induction of RPOS expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:11210–15
- 105. Shirahama K, Yazaki Y, Sakano K, Wada Y, Ohsumi Y. 1996. Vacuolar function in the phosphate homeostasis of the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Plant Cell Physiol. 37:1090–93
- 106. Skorko R. 1989. Polyphosphate as a source of phosphoryl group in protein modification in archebacterium Sulfolobus acidocaldarius. Biochimie 71:9– 10
- Skorko R, Osipuk J, Stetter KO. 1989. Glycogen-bound polyphosphate kinase from archaebacterium Sulfolobus acidocaldarius. J. Bacteriol. 171:5162–64
- Szymona M, Ostrowsky W. 1964. Inorganic polyphosphate glucokinase of Micobacterium phlei. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 85:283–95
- 109. Tinsley CR, Gotschlich EC. 1995. Cloning and characterization of the meningococcal polyphosphate kinase gene: production of polyphosphate synthesis mutant. *Infect. Immun.* 63:1624– 30
- Tinsley CR, Manjula BN, Gotschlich EC.
 1993. Purification and characterization of polyphosphate kinase from *Neisseria* meningitidis. Infect. Immun. 61:3703–10
- Trilisenko LV, Il'inskaya ON, Vagabov VM, Kulaev IS. 1985. Inorganic polyphosphates and polyphosphate phosphohydrolase in mycelial strains and slimevariants of *Neurospora crassa*. *Biokhimia* 50:1120–26
- 112. Trilisenko LV, Vagabov VM, Kulaev IS. 1985. Intracellular localization of two polyphosphate phosphohydrolases with different substrate specificity in a "slime" variant of *Neurospora crassa*. *Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR* 280:763–65

- Tzeng CM, Kornberg A. 1998. Polyphosphate kinase is highly conserved in many bacterial pathogens. *Mol. Micro*biol. 29:381–82
- 114. Urech K, Durr M, Boller T, Wiemken A. 1978. Localization of polyphosphate in vacuoles of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Arch. Microbiol.* 116:275–78
- Vagabov VM, Chemodanova OV, Kulaev IS. 1990. Effect of inorganic polyphosphates on negative charge of yeast cell wall. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 313:989–92
- 116. Vagabov VM, Trilisenko LV, Krupianko VI, Ilchenko VY, Kulaev IS. 1990. Does intracellular arginine stimulate vacuolar polyphosphate phosphohydrolase of *Neurospora crassa? Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR* 311:991–94
- 117. Vagabov VM, Trilisenko LV, Shchipanova IN, Sibeldina LA, Kulaev IS. 1998. Changes in inorganic polyphosphate length during the growth of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microbiology 67:153–57
- 118. Van Alebeek GJWM, Keitjens JT, Van der Drift C. 1994. Tripolyphosphatase from Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum (strain DH). FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 117:263–68
- Vanloosdrecht MCM, Hooijmans CM, Brdjanovic D, Heijnen JJ. 1997. Biological phosphate removal processes. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 48:289–96
- 120. Van Veen HW, Abee T, Korstee GJJ, Konings WN, Zehnder AJB. 1994. Generation of a proton motive force by the excretion of metal phosphate in the polyphosphate-accumulating Acinetobacter johnsonii strain 210A. J. Biol. Chem. 269:29509–14

- West MW, Ponnamperuma C. 1970. Chemical evolution and the origin of life: a comprehensive bibliography. Space Life Sci. 2:225–95
- 122. Westenberg B, Boller T, Wiemken A. 1989. Lack of arginine and polyphosphate storage pools in a vacuole-deficient mutant (end 1) of S. cerevisiae. FEBS Lett. 254:133–36
- Wiemken A, Durr M. 1974. Characterization of amino acid pools in the vacuolar compartment of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Arch. Microbiol. 101:45–57
- Wolskamitaszko B. 1997. Trehalases from spores and vegetative cells of yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Basic Microbiol. 37:295–303
- Wood HG, Clark JE. 1988. Biological aspects of inorganic polyphosphates. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 57:235–60
- Wurst H, Kornberg A. 1994. A soluble exopolyphosphatase of *Saccharomyces* cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 269:10996– 1001
- Wurst H, Shiba T, Kornberg A. 1995. The gene for a major exopolyphosphatase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Bacteriol. 177:898–906
- 128. Yamagata Y, Watanabe H, Saitoh M, Namba T. 1991. Volcanic production of polyphosphates and its relevance to prebiotic evolution. *Nature* 352:516– 19
- 129. Yang YC, Bestos M, Chen KJ. 1993. Effect of osmotic stress and growth stage on cellular pH and polyphosphate metabolism in *Neurospora crassa* as studied by 31-P-nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta 1179:141–47

CONTENTS

THE LIFE AND TIMES OF A CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGIST, Albert	
Balows	1
ROLE OF CYTOTOXIC T LYMPHOCYTES IN EPSTEIN-BARR	10
VIRUS-ASSOCIATED DISEASES, Rajiv Khanna, Scott R. Burrows BIOFILM FORMATION AS MICROBIAL DEVELOPMENT, George	19
O'Toole, Heidi B. Kaplan, Roberto Kolter	49
MICROBIOLOGICAL SAFETY OF DRINKING WATER, U. Szewzyk,	17
R. Szewzyk, W. Manz, KH. Schleifer	81
THE ADAPTATIVE MECHANISMS OF TRYPANOSOMA BRUCEI	
FOR STEROL HOMEOSTASIS IN ITS DIFFERENT LIFE-CYCLE	
ENVIRONMENTS, I. Coppens, P. J. Courtoy	129
THE DEVELOPMENT OF GENETIC TOOLS FOR DISSECTING THE	
BIOLOGY OF MALARIA PARASITES, Tania F. de Koning-Ward,	157
Chris J. Janse, Andrew P. Waters	137
NUCLEIC ACID TRANSPORT IN PLANT-MICROBE	
INTERACTIONS: The Molecules That Walk Through the Walls, <i>Tzvi</i>	
Tzfira, Yoon Rhee, Min-Huei Chen, Talya Kunik, Vitaly Citovsky	187
PHYTOPLASMA: Phytopathogenic Mollicutes, <i>Ing-Ming Lee, Robert E.</i>	
Davis, Dawn E. Gundersen-Rindal	221
ROOT NODULATION AND INFECTION FACTORS PRODUCED BY	
RHIZOBIAL BACTERIA, Herman P. Spaink	257
ALGINATE LYASE: Review of Major Sources and Enzyme	
Characteristics, Structure-Function Analysis, Biological Roles, and Applications, <i>Thiang Yian Wong, Lori A. Preston, Neal L. Schiller</i>	289
INTERIM REPORT ON GENOMICS OF ESCHERICHIA COLI, M.	207
Riley, M. H. Serres	341
ORAL MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES: Biofilms, Interactions, and	
Genetic Systems, Paul E. Kolenbrander	413
ROLES OF THE GLUTATHIONE- AND THIOREDOXIN-	
DEPENDENT REDUCTION SYSTEMS IN THE ESCHERICHIA COLI	
AND SACCHAROMYCES CEREVISIAE RESPONSES TO OXIDATIVE	120
STRESS, <i>Orna Carmel-Harel, Gisela Storz</i> RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN MOLECULAR GENETICS OF	439
CANDIDA ALBICANS, Marianne D. De Backer, Paul T. Magee, Jesus	
Pla	463
FUNCTIONAL MODULATION OF ESCHERICHIA COLI RNA	.00
POLYMERASE, Akira Ishihama	499
BACTERIAL VIRULENCE GENE REGULATION: An Evolutionary	
Perspective, Peggy A. Cotter, Victor J. DiRita	519
LEGIONELLA PNEUMOPHILA PATHOGENESIS: A Fateful Journey	
from Amoebae to Macrophages, M. S. Swanson, B. K. Hammer	5.77
THE DISEASE SPECTRUM OF HELICOBACTER PYLORI: The	567
Immunopathogenesis of Gastroduodenal Ulcer and Gastric Cancer, <i>Peter</i>	
B. Ernst, Benjamin D. Gold	615
PATHOGENICITY ISLANDS AND THE EVOLUTION OF	
MICROBES, Jörg Hacker, James B. Kaper	641
DNA SEGREGATION IN BACTERIA, Gideon Scott Gordon, Andrew	
Wright	681

POLYPHOSPHATE AND PHOSPHATE PUMP, I. Kulaev, T.	
Kulakovskaya	709
ASSEMBLY AND FUNCTION OF TYPE III SECRETORY SYSTEMS,	
Guy R. Cornelis, Frédérique Van Gijsegem	735
PROTEINS SHARED BY THE TRANSCRIPTION AND	
TRANSLATION MACHINES, Catherine L. Squires, Dmitry Zaporojets	775
HOLINS: The Protein Clocks of Bacteriophage Infections, Ing-Nang	
Wang, David L. Smith, Ry Young	799
OXYGEN RESPIRATION BY DESULFOVIBRIO SPECIES, Heribert	
Cypionka	827
REGULATION OF CARBON CATABOLISM IN BACILLUS	
SPECIES, J. Stülke, W. Hillen	849
IRON METABOLISM IN PATHOGENIC BACTERIA, Colin Ratledge,	
Lynn G Dover	881